IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA : CRI M NAL ACTI ON
. :
NOLAN HUGH : NO. 03-829
MEMORANDUM
Bartle, C. J. January 28, 2009

Before the court is the notion of defendant Nol an Hugh
under 28 U S.C. § 2255 to correct, vacate, or set aside his
convi ction and sentence.

On February 4, 2005, a jury found Hugh guilty of (1)
conspiracy to interfere with interstate commerce by robbery, in
violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1951(a); (2) interference with
interstate commerce by robbery, in violation of 18 U. S. C
§ 1951(a); and (3) carrying and using a firearmduring and in
relation to a crinme of violence, in violation of 18 U. S. C
8§ 924(c). The court inposed a wthin-guidelines sentence of 180
nmont hs' inprisonnent, five years' supervised release, restitution
of $28,777.27, and a special assessnent of $300. CQur Court of
Appeal s affirmed Hugh's conviction on July 18, 2007. After the
Court rejected his petition for rehearing en banc, the nmandate
was issued on Novenber 7, 2007. The instant notion, filed on
Sept enber 15, 2008, is tinely.

Hugh now maintains that he is entitled to a new tri al

because of ineffective assistance of trial counsel under the



standard set forth by the United States Suprene Court in
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U. S. 668 (1984). He faults his

counsel for failing to (1) nove to suppress the victims
identification of Hugh as one of her assailants froma photo
spread prepared by police; (2) nove into evidence the record of
an interviewwth the victim and (3) rebut adequately the
government's fingerprint expert. He also raises for the first
time a new alibi in support of his contention that he is actually
i nnocent of the crines for which he was convi ct ed.

I .

On May 24, 2003, Ms. Alyia Hasan was working alone at a
check cashing agency in west Philadel phia. Around 11:30 a.m, a
man entered the busi ness and approached the counter area behind
whi ch Ms. Hasan was protected by a pl exiglas w ndow and | ocked
security doors. The nman, who appeared "antsy" and was behavi ng
"erratically,"” asked Ms. Hasan for change. She denied his
request. The man was plainly agitated by Ms. Hasan's refusal but
eventually left the | ocation.

At about 1:00 p.m that sane day, a different man
wearing a mail carrier's uniformentered the agency and indi cated
that a package in his possession was for Ms. Hasan. As she
exited the secured area to receive the package, a second man
struck her in the head with a handgun. The two nen noved to the
now accessi bl e secured area and demanded noney. Each displayed a
handgun at that point. The man in the mail carrier's uniform

pressed the barrel of his gun against Ms. Hasan's face. This
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forced her to look in the direction of the other man who now
seened to be serving as a | ookout. M. Hasan inmediately
recogni zed the latter as the sane individual who had asked her
for change earlier in the day. After striking Ms. Hasan again
and threatening to lock her inside a safe, the robbers fled the
agency in possession of several of M. Hasan's personal

bel ongi ngs and over $28,000 in cash. Left behind was the enpty
package they had enployed in their ruse.

Shortly after the robbery, Ms. Hasan nmade a st at enent
to Phil adel phia police in which she described the intruders. In
particul ar, she noted that the man serving as | ookout was "wel | -
groonmed” and had "nice hair" and a "Musli mtype" beard. That
statenent was typed onto a Phil adel phia Police Departnent
| nvestigation Interview Record form (the "Interview Record") and
signed by Ms. Hasan. Over the course of several followup visits
to the police station, Ms. Hasan revi ewed hundreds of photographs
of potential suspects but did not recognize her assailants anong
t hem

In the nmeantine, police technicians recovered a | atent
fingerprint fromthe package abandoned at the crinme scene. An
experienced fingerprint identification expert, Cifford Parson
determ ned that the recovered print was an exact match with a
print already on file belonging to the defendant, Nol an Hugh.

Si x days after the robbery, the police arranged anot her photo
spread for Ms. Hasan consisting of eight pictures of bearded nen,

anong whi ch was a phot ograph of defendant. Ms. Hasan confidently
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identified himas the nman who had asked for change before the
robbery and as the one not wearing the mail carrier's uniform
during the robbery itself.

At trial, Ms. Hasan described the events of My 24,
2003 and her subsequent identification of Hugh in the photo
spread. M. Parson, the government's fingerprint expert, then
testified that he was "100 percent, wi thout a doubt™ certain that
"the latent print is that of Nolan Hugh." Defense counsel
aggressively cross-exam ned M. Parson and presented a conpeting
expert on fingerprint methodol ogy, Dr. Ral ph Haber, who testified
that M. Parson's nethods and concl usi ons were unsound.

The prosecution al so introduced evidence that Hugh, a
wel fare recipi ent, nmade conspi cuous purchases and began gi vi ng
nmoney to relatives in the days follow ng the robbery. Hugh's
girlfriend and her sister testified that he had nade statenents
to themindicating he had been involved in illegal activity as a
| ookout and that he believed he had received | ess than his share
of the proceeds fromthe enterprise.

Def ense counsel attenpted to inpeach Ms. Hasan's tri al
testinmony with her statement fromthe Interview Record that she
was unable to renmenber specifically what Hugh had requested at
her first encounter with himat 11:30 a.m on the day of the
robbery. Counsel also tried to inpeach Ms. Hasan's trial
testimony that she had noticed Hugh's "nice hair" on the day of
the robbery with her statenent in the Interview Record that Hugh

had been wearing a hood or a cap during his appearances in the
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agency. Defense counsel did not, however, nove to admt either
statement into evidence.

During his closing argunent, defense counsel argued to
the jury that Ms. Hasan's identification of the defendant from
t he photo spread shoul d be di sregarded because he was the only
person in the included photographs who matched the description
initially provided by Ms. Hasan to the police. At the conclusion
of closing argunents, defense counsel requested that the
| ntervi ew Record and anot her police report be sent back to the
jury room The court denied this request on the grounds that the
reports had not been admtted into evidence and in any event
constituted inadm ssi bl e hearsay.

.

In the notion now before us, Hugh argues generally that
his trial counsel provided himwth ineffective assistance in
violation of his rights under the Sixth Arendnment to the United
States Constitution. In order to establish a claimof
i neffective assistance of counsel Hugh must denonstrate that:

(1) "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of
reasonabl eness,” and (2) "there is a reasonable probability that,
but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the

proceedi ng woul d have been different.” Strickland v. WAshi ngton,

466 U.S. 668, 687, 694 (1984). Wth respect to the first
Strickland prong, the Suprene Court has refused to "articulate
specific guidelines for appropriate attorney conduct” and has

i nst ead enphasi zed that the proper neasure of attorney
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performance "remai ns sinply reasonabl eness under prevailing

prof essional norns."™ Waggins v. Smth, 539 U S. 510, 521 (2003).

Nonet hel ess, "[b]ecause of the difficulties inherent in making
the evaluation, a court nust indulge a strong presunption that
counsel's conduct falls within the wi de range of reasonable

prof essi onal assistance; that is, the defendant must overcone the
presunption that, under the circunstances, the challenged action

m ght be considered sound trial strategy.” Strickland, 466 U. S.

at 689 (quotation omtted).

To overcone that presunption, "a habeas petitioner mnust
show either that: (1) the suggested strategy (even if sound) was
not in fact notivating counsel or, (2) that the actions could

never be considered part of a sound strategy.” Thonmas v. Varner,

428 F. 3d 491, 499 (3d Gr. 2005). Qur Court of Appeals has
recently described the conplex franework as foll ows:

At first, the presunption is that counsel's
conduct m ght have been part of a sound
strategy. The defendant can rebut this
"weak" presunption by showi ng either that the
conduct was not, in fact, part of a strategy
or by showi ng that the strategy enpl oyed was
unsound. In cases in which the record does
not explicitly disclose trial counsel's
actual strategy or |ack thereof (either due
to lack of diligence on the part of the
petitioner or due to the unavailability of
counsel ), the presunption may only be
rebutted through a showi ng that no sound
strategy posited by the [governnment] could
have supported the conduct. However, if the
[ governnent] can show t hat counsel actually
pursued an inforned strategy (one decided
upon after a thorough investigation of the
rel evant | aw and facts), the "weak"
presunption becones a "strong" presunption,
which is "virtually unchal | engeabl e.”
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Id. (citations omtted).

It is Hugh's first contention that his trial counse
shoul d have noved to suppress Ms. Hasan's identification of him
in a police-prepared photo spread. W nust therefore determ ne
whet her this act of potential nonfeasance "m ght have been part
of a sound strategy."” Because the record is silent as to
counsel 's actual strategy, the burden is on defendant to show
that "no sound strategy posited by the [governnment] could have
supported the conduct.” 1d.

The governnent proposes that defense counse
intentionally eschewed a notion to suppress the photo spread as
part of a reasonable but ultimately unsuccessful ganbit.
Counsel 's strategy, according to the governnent, was to convince
the jury that the entirety of Ms. Hasan's identification
testimony shoul d be di scounted because of her exposure to what he
cont ended was an undul y suggestive photo spread.

Even assum ng that defense counsel had no sound basis
for his strategy, defendant cannot prevail here. Under the

second Strickland prong, Hugh nmust show that he "would Iikely

have prevailed on the suppression notion and that, having
prevailed, there is a reasonable |ikelihood that he woul d not
have been convicted.” 1d. at 503. In ruling on a notion to
suppress of this sort, our first question would have been whet her
the contested identification procedure was unnecessarily
suggestive. 1d. The United States Suprene Court has expl ai ned

that even if the photo spread was unduly suggestive, however, the
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court nmust still examne the totality of the circunmstances to
determ ne whether the identification itself was reliable. Nei
v. Biggers, 409 U S. 188, 199-200 (1972). Relevant factors
i ncl ude:

(1) the opportunity of the witness to view

the crimnal at the tinme of the crinme, (2)

the witness' degree of attention, (3) the

accuracy of the witness' prior description of

the crimnal, (4) the level of certainty

denonstrated by the witness at the

confrontation, and (5) the length of tine
between the crinme and the confrontation.

Here, it is unnecessary for us to address whether the
phot o spread was unduly suggestive! because we find under the
circunstances that Ms. Hasan's identification was reliable.

First, Ms. Hasan had anple opportunity to view defendant before
and during the robbery itself. She testified that the building' s
secured area was well-lighted and that she was able to view

def endant for several mnutes during his initial visit to the
agency and for alnost half an hour during the second. Second,

Ms. Hasan testified that she paid particular attention to

def endant during his first visit because of his odd behavi or and

1. Defense counsel's primary argunment in this respect was that
Hugh was the only individual displayed in the photo spread who
mat ched Ms. Hasan's initial description of a "well-grooned” man
having "nice hair" and a "Musli mtype" beard. W note that al
eight men in the photos presented to Ms. Hasan were, |ike

def endant, bearded.

Moreover, there is no indication that police behavior was
unduly suggestive. During her trial testinony Ms. Hasan stated
that an officer called her in, presented her with the pictures,
and told her to "just sit there, take [your] tine, and |look at it
and ... let us know if any of these people |look famliar to you."
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that she paid rapt attention to himthroughout the | ater robbery.
Third, she described himw th a considerable |evel of detail to
police imediately after the incident. Fourth, upon seeing the
phot o of defendant Ms. Hasan denonstrated a hi gh degree of
certainty that he was one of the robbers. She nade that

associ ation based on "his features, his eyes, just everything
about him" and not sinply on the fact that the individual in the
phot o was bearded and wel |l -grooned. Finally, she selected

def endant fromthe photo spread within a week of the incident.

Under the totality of the circunstances, Ms. Hasan's
i dentification of Nolan Hugh as the unmasked indivi dual who
visited the agency in the late nmorning of May 24th, 2003 and
returned |ater that sane day to threaten and assault her at
gunpoi nt was manifestly reliable. W would not have suppressed
her identification of defendant from a police-provi ded photo
spread. Consequently, the outcone of the trial would not have
been different even if defense counsel had made the appropriate
notion in limne. W wll deny Hugh's 8 2255 notion insofar as
it is based upon his counsel's failure to nove to suppress
evi dence of the photo spread.

Hugh next contends that his counsel unreasonably failed
to nove the Interview Record into evidence. W need not address
whet her this failure was objectively unreasonable in violation of
Strickland because Hugh cannot establish prejudice. Qur Court of
Appeal s has already affirmed the district court's ruling that the

I ntervi ew Record was i nadm ssi bl e hearsay. See Hugh, 236 Fed.
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App' x at 799-801. No possibility exists, therefore, that "the
result of the proceedi ngs woul d have been different” if Hugh's
counsel had noved for the adm ssion of the Interview Record.
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The jury would still not have been
permtted to view it during deliberations. W wll deny Hugh's
nmotion in this respect.

Hugh al so al |l eges that his counsel failed to rebut
adequately the conclusions of the governnent's fingerprint
expert, M. Parson. The record belies Hugh's claim Defense
counsel vigorously contested the state's fingerprint evidence
t hrough cross-exam nation. Counsel obtained a private expert,
Dr. Haber, to dispute the nethodol ogy enpl oyed by the governnment
witness. Hugh is not entitled to relief sinply because the jury
apparently chose to credit the testinony of the governnent expert
rather than that of Dr. Haber.

Lastly, Hugh clains that he is entitled to coll ateral
relief under 8§ 2255 because he is actually innocent of the crines
for which he is inprisoned. 1In the instant notion, Hugh asserts
for the first time that he was an inpatient at a | ocal drug
treatnment facility on the date of the robbery. He seeks
di scovery of the facility's records in support of this alibi.

The Suprene Court has held squarely that a clai mof
"actual innocence" is not cognizable on habeas review unless it
is predicated on a denial of sone constitutional right. Herrera

v. Collins, 506 U S. 390, 404 (1993); see also United States v.

Dill, 555 F. Supp. 2d 514, 519 (E.D. Pa. 2008). Hugh does not
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al l ege that he was deni ed due process, that is, that he was
deni ed an opportunity to present his alibi evidence at the tine
of trial. He |likew se offers no explanation for his failure to
avail hinmself of Rule 33 of the Federal Rules of Crimnal
Procedure, which permts a district court to grant a newtrial on
the basis of "newy discovered evidence" where the defendant
makes such a notion "within 3 years after the verdict."? Because
Hugh's notion is not the proper channel for his claimof actual
i nnocence, we will deny his notion in that respect.

For the reasons stated above, the notion of Nolan Hugh

pursuant to 28 U S.C. § 2255 will be deni ed.

2. The jury returned its verdict against Hugh on February 4,
2005. Consequently, Hugh's time for filing a notion under Rule
33 appears to have el apsed.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA ) CRI M NAL ACTI ON
. )
NCLAN HUGH NO. 03-829
ORDER

AND NOW this 28th day of January, 2009, for the
reasons set forth in the acconpanying Menorandum it is hereby
ORDERED t hat :

(1) the notion of defendant Nolan Hugh to correct,
vacate, or set aside his conviction and sentence pursuant to 28
U S C 8§ 2255 is DENED;, and

(2) a certificate of appealability will not issue.

BY THE COURT:

[s/ Harvey Bartle III

C. J.



